I. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER 

The State of Washington, petitioner, petitions the Court for 

review of a decision of the Court of Appeals In State v. Michael C. 

McKinnon, no. 7 4008-3-1, filed August 29, 2016. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals filed an unpublished opinion on August 

29, 2016, reversing the defendant's conviction for Theft by 

Deception under RCW 9A.56.020(1 )(b). A copy of the Court of 

Appeals' decision Is attached to this petition as appendix A. 

Ill. ISSUE 

Did the State present sufficient evidence that the defendant 

obtained control of property through color or aid of deception based 

on evidence that the ongoing pattern of thefts over a five year 

period was hidden by fraudulent bookkeeping practices, thereby 

allowing the ongoing thefts to not only continue, but also preventing 

the victim from discovering and halting the series of thefts? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The facts of this case are not in dispute and were properly 

summarized by the Court of Appeals. Briefly, the defendant was 

hired to conduct accounting and bookkeeping services for a 

Homeowners' Association (HOA) from 2006 to 2011. Starting in 
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2007 he incrementally stole approximately $134,000 from the 

associations' accounts, but he was also partially repaying the stolen 

funds over time. He covered up the ongoing thefts by submitting 

false annual spreadsheets to the HOA in which he claimed that the 

stolen funds were held in "savings" accounts which did not exist. 

When the HOA decided to change accountants in 2011 the 

defendant confessed his crime and also completed his effort to 

repay the stolen funds. He ultimately paid back the entire $134,000 

loss plus approximately $8,000 in interest. The HOA did not report 

the thefts to law enforcement until March of 2014, and the police 

investigation was completed In August 2014. Slip Op. 2-3. 

By the time the Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office made 

a charging decision in January 2015, the standard three year 

statute of limitations for embezzlement had expired. The State 

charged the defendant with First Degree Theft by color or aid of 

deception, a crime for which the legislature in 2009 extended the 

statute of limitations from three years to six years. 

The trial court considered stipulated documentary evidence 

and convicted the defendant of Theft in the First Degree by 

deception. The defendant appealed and the Court of Appeals 

reversed, finding insufficient evidence of theft by deception. 
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Specifically, the Court of Appeals ruled that the State 

presented no evidence that the misappropriated funds were 

obtained by deception, because according to the Court the 

defendant obtained the funds when he was first hired in 2006, 

before he began generating deceptive accounting spreadsheets In 

2007. Slip. Op. at 6. 

V. ARGUMENT 

Theft by deception requires the State to prove that a 

defendant "obtained control over the property" by color or aid of 

deception. RCW 9A.56.020(1 )(b). The Court of Appeals' decision 

focused exclusively on the word obtain in determining that the 

State presented insufficient evidence of Theft by Deception. ld. By 

focusing on this word the court ignored the more complex concept 

of control, a term which can have very different meanings 

depending on the context. An infant has a certain degree of control 

over his parents, and authoritarian dictators have a certain degree 

of control over their populace, but the term's meaning varies widely 

depending on the context in which it is used. Washington courts 

have considered the definition of control in many contexts. See. 

~. State v. Smelter, 36 Wn. App. 439, 674 P.2d 690 (1984) 

(physical control of a motor vehicle); New Castle Investments v. 
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Citv of LaCenter, 98 Wn. App. 224, 989 P.2d 569 {1999) (in land 

use context); Lynott v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa., 

123 Wn.2d 678, 871 P.2d 146 (1994) (in corporate mergers and 

acquisitions context). 

In this case, the Court of Appeals did not adequately 

consider that the defendant's deceptive accounting practices 

allowed him to obtain a greater degree of control over the HOA's 

funds than he otherwise would have had. When he was acting 

strictly within the course of his duties, the defendant's authorized 

level of control over the HOA's funds allowed him only to pay 

vendors for services rendered, or to pay himself an agreed rate for 

his own services. Slip. Op. at 1. His deceptive spreadsheets to the 

HOA were the vehicle by which the defendant was able to maintain 

his position as a trusted bookkeeper, thereby granting him further 

access to the HOA's revenue (so the series of thefts could 

continue) and granting him a degree of control over the stolen 

funds he otherwise would have lacked - the ability to use the 

HOA's money for any purpose whatsoever as if it was his own. CP 

461-62. The defendant's deception of the HOA Board was more 

effective, in part, because it was comprised mostly of elderly 

volunteers. This fact contributed significant delay to the HOA's 
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discovery of the thefts, but also to the additional delay in referring 

the matter to law enforcement. CP 39. 

The defendant's deception of a group of elderly, volunteer, 

HOA board members was exactly the type of crime the legislature 

was addressing in 2009 when it unanimously passed a law 

extending the statute of limitations for theft by deception cases to 

six years instead of three, and allowed the period to run from the 

discovery of the crime rather than the commission of the crime. See 

Laws of 2009, Ch. 53, §1. The legislature's reason for changing the 

law applies directly to this case: 

The most Important piece of the bill is the section that 
adjusts the statute of limitations to be calculated 
based on the point of discovery of the crime, rather 
than when the crime was actually committed. This 
comes up often in the context of elder abuse cases. 
There may be circumstances in which the Individual is 
dealing with other issues and doesn't realize within 
three years that they have had their assets stolen. In 
the context of theft, this bill affects only those crimes 
accomplished by color or aid of deception, which is a 
small subset of theft cases. 

House Bill Report SSB 5380 at 4 (2009). It was this change in the 

law which allowed the State to file the theft by deception charge in 

2015, after the standard three year limitations period for 

embezzlement cases had expired. Slip. Op. at 3. 
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Even though the Court of Appeals acknowledged that theft 

by embezzlement and theft by deception are "not mutually 

repugnant, n it failed to appreciate how the defendant's deceptive 

accounting practices fostered his ability to stay employed as the 

HOA's bookkeeper and continue the series of thefts for more than 

five years. In contrast, the trial court saw clearly that deception 

played a large role in the crime: 

The board did rely on the records provided to them by 
Mr. McKinnon in knowing what funds they had 
available. They had been led to believe that those 
funds were securely invested; In fact, they were not. 
They were not available had some sort of situation 
come up and the board needed those funds, so I do 
think that that is the deception. I do find that that's 
deception, and I will find Mr. McKinnon guilty of the 
charge. 

7/8/15 RP 4-5. 

The Court of Appeals' decision should be reviewed because 

it Is inconsistent with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and of 

this Court. Most importantly, the decision raises an issue of 

substantial public interest because the legislature deserves a 

definitive answer to whether it actually addressed the problem 

identified in 2009 when it extended the statute of limitations for theft 

by deception cases. Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), 

(2), and (4). 
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1. The Decision Conflicts With Other Decisions Of The Court 
Of Appeals Finding Sufficient Evidence of Deception . 

At the trial court level and as argued to the Court of Appeals, 

the State relied on Division One's analysis of theft by deception 

found in State v. Mehrabian, 175 Wn. App. 678, 699-700, 308 P.3d 

660 (2013). In Mehrabian, a city employee used multiple deceptive 

techniques in order to Induce his supervisors to approve business 

transactions involving Mehrablan himself, in violation of city policy. 

The transactions involved computer equipment which Mehrabian 

deceptively described both as to origin and value. ld. at 707. The 

court found sufficient evidence of theft by deception because 

Mehrabian's supervisors said "they probably would not have 

approved the deals had they known the true facts." ld. The court 

described the role deception must play in a crime, and did so in a 

way that matches the defendant's actions In this case: 

"Deception" includes a broad range of conduct, 
including not only representations about past or 
existing facts, but also representations about future 
facts, Inducement achieved by means other than 
conduct or words, and inducement achieved by 
creating a false impression even though particular 
statements or acts might not be false. The State must 
also prove that it relied on the defendant's deception, 
which is established where the deception in some 
measure operated as inducement. The plain language 
of the theft by color or aid of deception statute does 
not require an express misrepresentation. The statute 
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focuses on the false impression created rather than 
the falsity of any particular statement. 

ld. at 700 (citations omitted). 

The State had equivalent evidence in this case, because the 

president of the HOA Board said: 

The Board relied on records provided to them by 
McKinnon In knowing what funds they had available. 
The summaries provided led the Board to believe that 
their funds were securely invested. Had the Board 
learned of the loan while these transactions were 
being made, [the Board's president] would have 
called a Board meeting and he believes that the 
Board would have taken adverse action toward Mr. 
McKinnon's status as accountant. 

CP 461-62. In other words, the defendant's deceptive balance 

sheets deceived the HOA Board into a false sense of security and 

prevented them from firing the defendant. By hiding his thefts and 

preventing his own firing, the defendant induced the Board into 

keeping the defendant In a position of trust where he could continue 

to steal from them. This meets the definition of theft by deception. 

The Court of Appeals said the facts of the Mehrabian case 

were not analogous to this case because in Mehrablan the 

misrepresentations induced specific purchases, which In tum 

constituted the alleged thefts. Slip. Op. at 14. In contrast, according 

to the Court of Appeals, the defendant "did not use deception to 

obtain control over the association's funds." ld. The court thought 
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that the defendant "obtained control over'' all of the funds he would 

eventually steal back In 2006, before the defendant started 

deceiving the HOA Board from 2007 through 2011. Slip. Op. at 6. 

This view of the State's evidence did not place it in the most 

favorable light as required under the law. A more favorable reading 

would have recognized that an ongoing series of thefts by a 

fiduciary such as an accountant depends on the fiduciary 

relationship continuing undisturbed. The defendant's deceptive 

balance sheets induced the Board to retain him as accountant, and 

thereby facilitated him "obtaining control over' additional funds as 

the months and years passed by. The Board's reliance on the 

defendant's deceptive accounting practices was very similar to the 

deception and reliance found in Mehrabian. This Court should 

review the Court of Appeals' decision to resolve the conflict with 

Mehrabian. RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

2. The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Conflicts With 
Decisions Of This Court. 

The Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with this 

Court's decision In State v. Johnson, 56 Wn.2d 700, 355 P.2d 13 

(1960). In Johnson, this court held that sufficient evidence 

supported the defendant's 28 convictions for theft by deception. 
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The co-defendants In Johnson organized a fraud whereby 

Johnson's construction companies would document and submit 

false insurance claims to Haber, Johnson's accomplice. Haber was 

the Insurance adjuster who reviewed and approved payment of the 

false claims. "He had authority to issue drafts for the payment of 

individual claims ... n ld. at 703. The court affirmed the convictions, 

finding sufficient evidence supported the theft by deception charges 

because: 

Haber was not in possession of the funds at the time 
he appropriated them to his own use. He did not 
obtain possession thereof until other agents of the 
company, who had possession of the funds, caused 
the drafts authorized by Haber to be honored. The 
fact that Haber had authority to write drafts against 
the company does not establish that he had 
possession of the company's funds against which the 
drafts were written. 

ld. at 705 (emphasis added). 

The same can be said of the defendant in this case. Just 

because he possessed a checkbook from which he was allowed to 

pay vendors and even his own previously-agreed fees, does not 

mean that he possessed the HOA's funds. It only means he had 

access, and very limited access at that, to the HOA's funds for 

limited purposes. In fact, when viewed in the light most favorable to 

the State, the record indicates that the defendant did not obtain his 

10 



desired degree of control over the HOA's funds until they had been 

transferred out of the HOA account and Into his personal account. 

This was accomplished by a check, which still requires the 

involvement and approval of bank personnel along the same lines 

as the employee intermediary described in Johnson. 

The Court of Appeals' decision also conflicts with this Court's 

previous descriptions of how embezzlement and theft by deception 

are not mutually repugnant to one another. 

The proof that the crime was committed by color and 
aid would not necessarily be inconsistent with proof 
that under an agreement with the parties 
subsequently made the defendant became a bailee or 
trustee. Neither would proof that tended to establish 
that the alleged crime had been committed by a 
bailee or trustee necessarily disprove a charge that 
the possession of the property had been originally 
obtained by color and aid of false or fraudulent 
pretenses. 

State v. Harrison, 6 Wn.2d 625, 628, 108 P.2d 327 (1940). 

AHhough the Court of Appeals gave two examples of how an 

accountant like this defendant could still commit theft by deception, 

the examples have no material differences from the facts presented 

in this case. The two examples provided by the Court of Appeals 

were (1) if the defendant obtained additional funds from the HOA 

after falsely claiming that an unexpected cost arose, or (2) if he 
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falsely informed the association's members that their dues had 

increased and obtained additional funds. Slip. Op. at 11-12. But 

neither one of these scenarios would have enriched the defendant 

unless he took the further action of transferring funds Into his 

personal account, which the HOA only allowed as payment for his 

accountant fees at the rate of $250 per month or $3,000 per year. 

CP 234. In both of the court's examples and in the record of this 

case, each theft was completed only when the defendant 

transferred money into his own account without permission to do 

so. 

This Court confronted an analogous problem In a welfare 

fraud case, In State v. Wallace, 97 Wn.2d 846, 651 P.2d 201 

(1982). The defendant there was convicted of welfare fraud based 

on her possession of funds originally sent to her husband, who then 

transferred the funds to her as his "limited power of attorney." This 

court reversed the conviction because the limitations on her power 

of attorney "prohibited [her] from using the funds for her own 

benefit. Any use of the funds in a manner inconsistent with [her 

husband's] instructions would have constituted a breach of 

petitioner's fiduciary duty." ld. at 851. 
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Similarly, the defendant In this case did not have permission 

to use the HOA's funds for his own purposes. Such permission 

could only be granted by the full HOA board, which never occurred. 

CP 39-40. The description by the Court of Appeals that the 

defendant "obtained control" over the disputed funds in 2006, 

simply because he was hired as the HOA's accountant, is 

inconsistent with the facts In the record and with the holding in 

Wallace. Just like the defendant in Wallace, the defendant in this 

case only had limited control over the HOA's funds by virtue of his 

limited authority as their accountant. Each transfer of funds into his 

own account exceeded his limited authority, meaning he obtained a 

level of control over those funds he didn't have before the transfers, 

and which his limited authority did not allow. 

3. The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Involves An Issue Of 
Public Interest That Should Be Decided By The Supreme 
Court. 

The Court of Appeals' decision renders the 2009 extension 

of the statute of limitations in theft by deception cases ineffectual, 

even though the legislative history makes It clear that this is exactly 

the type of prosecution H was designed to save. See supra, p. 4-5. 

The HOA president acknowledged that the thefts went unreported 

in part due to the fact that the HOA Board was comprised of elderly 
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volunteers. CP 39. This concern (delayed discovery of theft in 

cases involving elderly victims) was cited in the legislative materials 

which resulted in the legislature's unanimous vote to allow 

prosecutions within six years from the discovery of the crime. The 

opinion is contrary to the clearly expressed intent of the legislature 

because many thefts by deception will go undiscovered within the 

shorter three year tlmeframe -often the deception Is designed to 

hide the true nature of the theft, making discovery but also the 

investigation and prosecution of the thefts a much slower process. 

There is no reason to provide thieves who also happen to be 

accountants with a three year head start on similarly deceptive 

thieves who don't have a fiduciary relationship with their victims. 

The Court of Appeals' opinion in this case appears to encourage 

rather than resolve this incongruity. This Court should resolve the 

confusion by recognizing that a theft by deception theory can 

proceed whenever an accountant exceeds his limited authority by 

obtaining a greater level of control over his fiduciary's funds than he 

had permission to obtain. Deception in the cover-up of those 

activities contributes to the ongoing thefts continuing undetected, 

and should trigger the longer statute of limitations. Even if the 

State's theory Is incorrect, Supreme Court guidance may be 
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necessary to highlight the inapplicability of the 2009 amendment to 

cases like this one. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and 

( 4 ). For the reasons stated above, this court should grant review, 

reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals, and reinstate the 

conviction.