### Washington State Supreme Court

NO. 93688-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington,

Respondent/PETITIONER

v.

Michael C. McKinnon,

Appellant/RESPONDENT.

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 74008-3-I

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY The Honorable George Bowden, Judge The Honorable Marybeth Dingledy, Judge

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CONTINGENT CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

DEREK T. CONOM TOM P. CONOM

THE CONOM LAW FIRM Attorneys for Respondent 7500 212<sup>th</sup> Street SW #215 Edmonds, WA 98026 (425) 774-6747



###

#### SUMMARY OF WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This is a classic embezzlement case. Without permission, a book-keeper employed by the board of directors of a homeowners' association borrowed the employer's money in his rightful possession as fiduciary for personal use (which he repaid in full with interest). Years later, a reconstituted homeowners' board instructed its attorney to make a criminal referral for embezzlement to the Snohomish County Prosecutor, six months before the statute of limitations expired.

Due to its unexplained negligence, the state did not file an embezzlement charge before expiration of the limitations period. Instead, many months after the embezzlement charge was barred by the statute of limitations, the prosecutor filed a charge of theft by deception — based only on the embezzlement evidence — in an attempt to circumvent the applicable time bar by invoking a longer statute of limitations for deception.

The Court of Appeals, relying on long-standing precedent from this Court, unanimously held that the evidence produced at trial by the state proved only embezzlement. Accordingly, there was insufficient evidence as a matter of law to establish theft by deception and the court reversed the wrongful conviction.

There is nothing novel or controversial in the unpublished Court of Appeals' decision. It is simply a straightforward application of well-settled precedent to undisputed facts and hardly calls for re-review of those facts by this Court.

# I. THE STATE WOULD HAVE THIS COURT OBLITERATE THE LEGAL DISTINCTIONS BETWEEN THEFT BY DECEPTION AND BY EMBEZZLEMENT

Although the state does not explicitly say so, what it wants this Court to do is to overrule a century of settled law and obliterate the long-standing distinctions between theft by deception and by embezzlement. The Court should decline this implicit, and baseless, invitation to subvert the statutory scheme for theft.

From the time of statehood when theft by deception (formerly false pretenses) and embezzlement were separate crimes until today when under the 1975 criminal code deception and embezzlement are alternative means of the single crime of theft, there have been clear analytical and elemental distinctions between the two.

The Court commented on this history more than 60 years ago in State v. Emerson, 43 Wn.2d 5, 17, 259 P.2d 406 (1953):

"At common law and by statutes prior to the enactment of the criminal code in 1909, the two were separate and distinct offenses." (emph.ad.)

When the Legislature enacted the predecessor statute to the 1975 code for theft, the alternative methods of deception (false pretenses) and embezzlement continued to be separate and distinct:

"They are *necessarily so treated* under our present statute upon the trial of a case, for the reason that in the former money is wrongfully *obtained* by the defendant from the complainant by some false pretense; while in the latter case (embezzlement) he *acquires the money rightfully* in the capacity of an agent, bailee, trustee, etc. and then appropriates the same to his own use."

State v. Emerson, 43 Wn.2d at 17 (dis.op.; emph.ad.).

Since the adoption of the 1975 criminal code, this Court has consistently declared that deception and embezzlement are analytically distinct alternative means of committing the crime of theft. *State v. Linehan*, 147 Wn.2d 638, 647, 56 P.3d 542 (2002)("theft is an alternative means crime"); *State v. Ager*, 128 Wn.2d 85, 91, 904 P.2d 715 (1995) ("embezzlement occurs where property that is lawfully in the taker's possession is fraudulently or unlawfully appropriated by the taker [and] involves a violation of trust"); *State v. Joy*, 121 Wn.2d 333, 851 P.2d 654 (1993)(same).

Commentary has followed the holdings of this Court in acknowledging the alternative means of theft remain "analytically distinct." *See* Fine and Ende, 13B Washington Practice, *Criminal Law 2d* sec. 2606 at 129 (1998 main volume), citing the leading cases of *State v. Smith*, 2 Wn. 2d 118, 98 P.2d 647 (1939) and *State v. Olds*, 39 Wn.2d 258, 235 P.2d 165 (1951).<sup>2</sup>

As the Court of Appeals stated below, quoting from this treatise, "The difference between theft by deception and embezzlement lies in whether the defendant had lawful possession of the property prior to the

1

2

The lead author of the Washington Practice commentary, Mr. Seth A. Fine, was formerly counsel of record for Petitioner in the appellate court.

The Court stated in *Olds*: "We held in *State v. Smith*, 2 Wn.2d 118, 98 P.2d 647, that the subdivisions of Rem. Rev. Stat. Sec. 2601, defined separate and distinct offenses, rather than providing various ways in which the same offense could be committed, notwithstanding that the several offenses were all designated as larceny." 39 Wn.2d at 260.

theft." Sec. 2609 at 137, quoted in *slip op*. at 7. From this well-settled proposition in Washington law, the Court of Appeals concluded: "If the defendant had lawful possession before the theft, then he cannot be guilty of theft by deception." *Id. See* Sec. 2609 at 137 ("the defendant could only be guilty of embezzlement"), relying on *State v. Smith, supra* and *State v. Renhard*, 71 Wn.2d 670, 430 P.2d 557 (1967).

The Court of Appeals below correctly held that *Smith* and *Renhard* continue to be the controlling law under the 1975 code and command the result reached by the court. *Slip op.* at 7-11 ("McKinnon's case is analogous to *Smith* and *Renhard*.").

The state utterly fails in its Petition to cite, discuss or acknowledge this history or any of the controlling authorities. Nor does the state make any showing that this Court's decisions relied on by the Court of Appeals were wrongly decided or harmful.

# II. WHEN THE LEGISLATURE EXTENDED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS FOR THEFT BY DECEPTION IN 2009, IT DID NOT AMEND THE SUBSTANTIVE LAW OF DECEPTION AND EMBEZZLEMENT

The state makes much ado about the Legislature's extension of the statute of limitations for theft by deception suggesting that the Legislature intended a drastic substantive change in theft law to permit for the first time proof of embezzlement to also constitute proof of deception. Pet. at 5-6, 13-15. This is a red herring which would result in the means of embezzlement being read out of the law. Proof of embezzlement is *not* proof of theft by deception. The Legislature made no relevant *substantive* 

changes to the law of theft relating to the alternative means of deception and embezzlement which retain distinct elements which must be charged and proved. The state's failure in this case to do so is neither excused by its negligence in not timely filing the correct charge nor justified by a non-existent legislative change in substantive theft law.

The state misrepresents the relevant facts and the relevant law.

It is unquestionably "mandatory that defendants in criminal cases must be convicted of the offenses charged, and guilt of other offenses will not suffice." *State v. Olds, supra,* 39 Wn.2d at 261 (reversing theft conviction based on possibility jury convicted on proof of uncharged means of theft):

"Since the appellants *may* have been convicted of an offense with which they were not charged, the judgment must be reversed."

### Id. (emph.ad.)

It is black-letter law that a person charged with one means of committing the crime of theft cannot be convicted on the basis of evidence establishing the commission of a different and uncharged means of theft. This legal maxim clearly applies to the crimes of theft by embezzlement and theft by deception. *State v. Smith; State v. Olds; State v. Renhard.* 

Professor LaFave explains the general rule applicable to theft by deception and theft by embezzlement:

"Thus, the evidence may show that the defendant, who fraudulently converted another's property, obtained possession of (but not title to) the victim's property by lies, intending from

the beginning to misappropriate it (larceny by trick), or it may show that he obtained the possession honestly and only later decided to misappropriate it (embezzlement). Evidence of one crime will not support a conviction of the other."

LaFave, 3 Substantive Criminal Law, section 19.8(a) at 143 (2d ed. 2003)(emph. ad.).

The cited Washington decisions follow this rule as recognized by the commentators:

"A person who is charged with a theft committed by one of these means cannot be convicted on evidence showing another kind of theft."

Fine and Ende, 13B Washington Practice, *Criminal Law 2d*, sec. 2606 at 129; sec. 2607 at 132 (1998).

The leading case on point is this Court's decision in *State v. Smith*, *supra* as correctly held by the Court of Appeals below. *Slip op. 7-9, 11*. Although *State v. Smith* was decided under a predecessor to the current theft statute, there is no material difference between the substantive law then and now<sup>3</sup> and the sufficiency of evidence analysis remains good law.

The relevant facts in *Smith* are as follows. The defendant, Smith, had control of the business of a warehouse company, "including the bank deposits." Smith was "authorized to draw checks against the bank account." Smith was contacted by co-defendant Ruark who sold him oil leases and mining stock. The leases and stock "were paid for by checks

Compare the definition of embezzlement in Rem.Rev.Stat., sec. 2601, quoted at 2 Wn.2d at 121, with R.C.W. 9A.56.010(22)(b). Except for some grammatical changes, there is virtually no difference in the two statutes.

drawn against the company's bank account." Smith made the checks payable to Ruark and "then to cover up the transaction, Ruark issued his personal checks" which Smith kept in the office cash box. An audit revealed that Smith had converted to his own use approximately \$26,000 of the company's funds. The scheme transpired over three years. "He admitted the facts just related." 2 Wn.2d at 119-120.

As in Mr. McKinnon's case, the state in *Smith* charged a means of theft other than embezzlement. As in Mr. McKinnon's case, Smith raised the following issue:

"Appellant contends he is guilty, if at all, of the crime of embezzlement and not of larceny. This contention is founded upon the admitted fact that the funds of the company were appropriated after they were given into his lawful custody and exclusive control, appellant reasoning that the violation of the possession of those funds, as charged in the information could not have occurred."

### 2 Wn.2d at 120.

After discussing the "obvious distinction[s]" between various methods of committing theft, the Supreme Court unanimously held:

"It is plain that the *evidence* presented to the jury was, if believed, sufficient to prove the crime of *embezzlement*. [cits. omit.] The *evidence*, however, did not prove the crime of larceny as defined by [different] subdivision" of statute.

State v. Smith, 2 Wn.2d at 122 (emph. ad.).

"We agree that the information was sufficient to sustain a conviction of larceny, but we cannot hold that the *evidence* supported that charge. Appellant used for himself money rightfully in his possession, and over which he alone had control. Ruark aided and abetted him. In so far as the *evidence* in this case is concerned, appellant was the principal and Ruark the accessory in committing the crime of *embezzlement*." *Id*.

"Careful examination of the *evidence*, construed in the light of the authorities to which our attention has been directed, leads us to the conclusion that the first essential of the crime of larceny was *not proven* ...." The *record* discloses that appellant was given the lawful custody and control of all the money and property of the Warehouse Company. It wholly fails to reveal *any evidence* from which the jury could infer that appellant harbored an intention to steal the particular \$ 2,000 at the time he took it into his possession. The intent to appropriate the money to his own use came to appellant after it had been given into his lawful custody."

State v. Smith, 2 Wn.2d at 123 (emph. ad.).

The Court concluded, at 123, 125 (emph.ad.; second quote cit. omit)

"Appellant was charged with larceny and convicted of embezzlement. Such conviction cannot stand." ... "The difficulty is that the act stated was not proven, and that the act proven was not stated."

The state claims that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with this Court's decision in *State v. Johnson*, 56 Wn.2d 700, 355 P.2d 13 (1960). Pet. at 9. On the contrary, the Court of Appeals' analysis perfectly harmonizes *Smith* and *Johnson*. *Slip op*. at 11-12. Johnson schemed with his uncharged (deceased) co-conspirator, Haber, to defraud Haber's insurance company by filing false insurance claims. 56 Wn.2d at 702-05. As a defense to charges of larceny by false representations, Johnson argued his conduct fell only within the parameters of the uncharged crime of embezzlement pursuant to *Smith*. 56 Wn.2d at 704. The *Johnson* Court held the critical difference between Smith's status and Johnson's status was that, unlike Smith, the accomplice Haber "was not in possession of the funds at the time he appropriated them to his own use." 56 Wn.2d at 705.

"He did not *obtain* possession thereof until other agents of the company, who had possession of the funds, caused the drafts authorized by Haber to be honored. ... The funds which were to pay the drafts were in the possession of other agents of the company. ... Haber's acquisition of possession of the company's funds being wrongful, he did not embezzle the funds and the rule of the Smith case is not apposite. Id. (emph.ad.)

The *Johnson* Court at 704-05 explained the key distinction between theft by embezzlement and by deception and between the different outcomes in *Smith* and *Johnson*:

"We held that the facts established the crime of embezzlement and not larceny, because the funds were in Smith's lawful posession at the time he unlawfully appropriated them to his own use."

The teaching of *Smith* and *Johnson* is straightforward: Where the actor has rightful possession of the property and then fraudulently converts it to personal use, the only crime committed is *embezzlement*, but where the actor does not have rightful possession of the property and then uses deception to obtain such property, the only crime committed is *theft by deception*. Because the exertion of unauthorized control over the homeowners' funds occurred while they were in the rightful possession of Mr. McKinnon, the Court of Appeals correctly held his conduct falls squarely within the parameters of *Smith* and not *Johnson*. *Slip op.* at 11. *Accord: State v. Ager, supra,* 128 Wn.2d at 91.

In opposition to this conclusion, the state makes the frivolous argument, without authority, that because third-party bank personnel – strangers to the parties – may have engaged in ministerial acts involving

the funds after conversion, this means that Mr. McKinnon never had rightful possession to them. Pet. at 11. A century ago, this Court held that a bank officer who did not have exclusive or actual possession of bank funds could still be guilty of embezzlement regardless of the necessary involvement of the bank's personnel (who were *not* strangers to the parties) in assisting him to accomplish that crime. *State v. Larson*, 123 Wash. 121, 128, 211 P. 885 (1923).

# III. THE STATE MISREPRESENTS THE RECORD – THE HOA BOARD WAS COMPOSED OF SOPHISTICATED MEMBERS OF VARIOUS AGES WHOSE JOB IT WAS TO OVERSEE THE FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE HOA

Mr. McKinnon accepts the facts as stated by the Court of Appeals. *Slip op.* at 1-3. The state claims it too accepts those facts, Pet. at 1, but then asserts "facts" never found by either the trial or appellate court.

For the first time in this case, the state makes the spurious claim that theft by deception was appropriately charged in this embezzlement case because the entire board of directors of the homeowners' association was composed of elderly, vulnerable, unsophisticated members who were in special need of protection of their assets and apparently unable for years to do the job for which they had *volunteered* — to oversee the financial affairs of the homeowners' association. Even if any of this were true, it would still not justify a charge not permitted by law. But it is not true.

The board was composed of relatively sophisticated homeowners and investors of various ages and professional backgrounds. A number of

board members gave statements to the police which included their personal backgrounds. App. A Consider for example Ms. Janet Robinson, the President of the HOA Board of Directors during the relevant period and primary contact with Mr. McKinnon. Ms. Robinson was employed as a realtor. She had been an officer of the board since the mid-1990's and was President at the time Mr. McKinnon was hired in 2006. She was 57 years young at that time. She had previously known Mr. McKinnon as an accountant who had personally prepared her tax returns. Ms. Robinson maintained voluminous financial records of the HOA in "large, three-ring binders." She stated that as many as 15 or more of the homeowners, including board members, might attend a board meeting. Bates nos. 15-20 (Ms. Robinson's replacement on the board in 2012, Barbara Lenac, was 58 years young when she assumed her position. Bates no. 52.).

Not a single board member (or homeowner for that matter) claimed that he or she was ever deceived by Mr. McKinnon into making any payments above and beyond what was required by the HOA. From the initial disclosure by Mr. McKinnon to Ms. Robinson, the board members consistently took the position that Mr. McKinnon's misconduct was unauthorized borrowing, Bates no. 38, and this was unchanged through sentencing ("Mr. McKinnon violated our trust by borrowing from the Association's bank accounts and reserve fund without permission.")CP4-7

Contrary to the state's fanciful mischaracterization of the record, the Court of Appeals correctly held:

"Here, McKinnon initially had lawful possession of the association's funds. Although he misappropriated the funds, and attempted to hide his misappropriation, the deception did not convert his embezzlement into theft by deception."

State v. McKinnon, slip op. at 7 (emph.ad.).

### **CONTINGENT CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Mr. McKinnon properly preserved in the trial court, assigned error to and briefed in the Court of Appeals three additional dispositive issues:

- 1. Violation of the 3-year statute of limitations on an undisputed record;
- 2. Violation of due process and equal protection in allowing the state to elect which statute of limitations for theft applies to identical facts;
- **3.** Denial of *Knapstad* motion to dismiss prior to trial.

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